IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILTON HELVESTON

APPELLANT

Vs.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-02277

LUM PROPERTIES LTD OF MISSISSIPPI LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, MARTHA B. LUM, INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HER CAPACITY AS GENERAL PARTNER OF LUM PROPERTIES LTD,

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CLAIBORNE COUNTY

David M. Sessums, MSB # ATTORNEY FOR, WILTON HELVESTON, APPELLANT VARNER, PARKER & SESSUMS 1110 Jackson St.
Vicksburg, MS 39181
Ph: (601)638-8741

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILTON HELVESTON

APPELLANT

Vs.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-02277

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 4
ARGUMENT 6
STANDARD OF REVIEW6
FACTS
CONVERSION
ESTOPPEL IS A FACTUAL ISSUE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF CASE, STATUES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

- 1. Moss v. Batsville Casket Company, Inc., 935 So. 2d 393 (Miss. 2006)
- 2. Price v. Purdue Pharma Company, 927 So. 2d 479 (Miss 2006)
- 3. <u>Mantachie Natual gas District v. Mississippi Valley Gas Company</u>, 594 So. 2d 1170 (Miss 1992)
- 4. Thomas v. Bradley, 2006-CA-01756-COA decided January 29, 2008
- 5. Ratliff v. Ratliff, 500 So. 2d 981 (Miss 1986)
- 6. Community Bank, Ellisville, Mississippi v Courtney, 884 So. 2d 767 (Miss 2004)
- 7. Union National Life Insurance Co. v Crosby, 870 So. 2d 1175 (Miss 2004)
- 8. Wilson v General Motors Acceptance Corp., 883 So. 2d 56 (Miss 2004)
- 9. <u>National Benefit Administrators, Inc. v Mississippi Methodist Hospital</u>, 748 F. Supp. 459 (S.D. Miss 1990)
- 10. <u>Cothern v Vickers, Inc.</u>, 759 So. 2d 1241 (Miss 2000)
- 11. Kovall v Kovall, 576 So. 2d 134 (Miss 1991)
- 12. Montgomery v Yarbrough, 6 So. 2 305 (Miss 1942)
- 13. <u>Mississippi Power & Light, Co. v Pitts</u>, 179 So. 363 (Miss 1938)
- 14. <u>Day v. McCandless</u>, 142 So. 486 (Miss. 1932)
- 15. <u>Canal-Commercial Trust and Savings Bank v. Brewer</u>, 109 So. 8 (Miss. 1926)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. The lower court erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 31, 2005, Wilton Helveston filed his Complaint before the Circuit Court of Claiborne County, Mississippi against Lum Properties Limited, Martha B. Lum and Offshore Towing, Inc. (Vol. 1, Pg. 6)

On November 14, 2005, new counsel for Helveston (the undersigned) entered their appearance (Vol. 1, Pg. 20) and on November 18, 2005, Helveston filed his Amended Complaint. (Vol. 1, Pg. 30)

Helveston contended that under the lease between him and Lum Properties Limited, through Martha Lum, dated July 15, 2002, for a term of three (3) years expiring July 15, 2005, Helveston had with the knowledge, consent and acquiescence of Defendants Lum continued to occupy the property after July 15, 2005, while the parties negotiated to renew and extend Helveston's lease of the subject real property. (Vol. 1, Pg.30)

The subject lease, as did the lease which preceded it, contained a clause stating that all personal property which remained on the real property for thirty (30) days after July 15, 2005, became the property of the landlord. (Item 16, Vol. 1, Pg. 13) Notwithstanding this provision Helveston alleged that the parties continued negotiations for renewal of the lease up until September 22, 2005, at which time Defendants Lum wrote to advise Helveston (Vo. 3, Pg. 385) that there would be no further negotiations for the renewal or extension of the lease and that if he reentered the property he would be treated as a trespasser. (Vol 1, Pg 31) The Lums at that time claimed all of Helveston's personal property still on the land.

In his Amended Complaint Helveston continued his claim for replevin and also asserted that the Lum Defendants has converted his personal property to their own use and demanded actual and punitive damages. (Vol 1, Pg 30)

On January 10, 2006, Defendants Lum filed their Answer to Amended Complaint. (Vol. 1, Pg 38) and on January 13, 2006, Offshore Towing, Inc. filed its separate Answer and Defenses (Vol. 1, Pg 61) and upon disclaiming any interest in the disputed personal property Offshore Towing, Inc. was dismissed by an Agreed Judgment of Dismissal With Prejudice entered on June 19, 2006. (Vol. 2, Pg. 201)

After discovery Defendants Lum filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on April 18, 2007 (Vol. 2, Pg 253) and Plaintiff filed his Response to Motion for Summary Judgment on May 1, 2007 (Vol. 3, Pg 383) contending that genuine issues of material fact existed for the determination of the jury.

On May 8, 20207, the Court entered its Order continuing the existing trial date and setting the matter for pre-trial conference on July 30, 2007, and rescheduling the trial date to September 6, 2007. (Vol. 3, Pg 446)

The Circuit Court entered its Order granting Defendants Lum's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying said Defendants' Motion for Sanctions. (Vol. 4, Pg 456) whereupon Helveston filed his Motion for Reconsideration (Vol. 4, Pg 462) which motion was denied by entry of the Court's Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration on December 6, 2007. (Vol. 4, Pg 435) Helveston then filed his Notice of Appeal on December 18, 2007. (Vol. 4, Pg 436)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower Court's Memorandum Opinion and the Order Granting Summary Judgment (Vol. 4, Pg 456) makes several findings and fact which factual determinations should be left for the jury.

Helveston and Lum had initially entered a hunting lease running from July 1, 1999, through June 30, 2002. The lower Court correctly recognized that even though this first lease also contained the same forfeiture of personal property clause (ie: personal property left on the real estate for thirty (30) days after the expiration date became the property of the landlord) that eighteen (18) days after the first lease has expired on June 30, 2002, the parties had entered into a second lease with dates running from July 16, 2002, through July 15, 2005, and that the second lease also contained a clause (Vol. 1, Pg. 13) providing that any property left on the Lum real estate for more than thirty days after the expiration date would become vested in the Lums. (Vol. 4, Pg 456) This established that Lum continued to negotiate after the lease term had expired.

However, the Court made an impermissible factual determination when it stated, "The Defendants and Mr. Dulaney made it clear to Mrs. Reed that the lease was solely for Helveston, and that he would have to contact them directly. Helveston failed to contact the Defendants or Mr. Delaney to execute the lease." (Vol. 4, Pg 456) This was a question of fact for the jury as it is disputed as to what the Defendants did or did not "make clear" to Mrs. Reed as Helveston's representation. This was a factual determination to be made by the jury.

The Court also erroneously held that the lease language providing that Helveston

would have thirty (30) days after the expiration of the lease period to remove his personal property from the Lum property was the alpha and omega and was clear and unambiguous and because it was undisputed that Helveston did not remove his property within said thirty (30) day time period that the Court was bound to enforce said provision regardless of any claim of estoppel.

In addressing Helveston's equitable estoppel claim that the silence, actions and negotiations of the parties prevented a strict enforcement of the forfeiture clause the lower Court made impermissible factual findings as cases of estoppel present factual questions left to the trier of fact, in this case the jury.

The Court in its Opinion stated, "He argues that the parties were in negotiations regarding the renewal of the lease and at no time did any party terminate negotiations. However, he does not offer any evidence that the parties were negotiating the ten-month lease. In fact, the Defendants advised Helveston May 2005, that the proposed ten-month lease was non-negotiable." (Vol. 4, Pg 458) This factual finding by the Court was disputed by the deposition testimony of both Helveston and Ms. Leoma Reed.

The Court also held, "Helveston has not produced any evidence of any evidence of a "conduct or act, or language, or <u>silence</u>, amounting to a representation of concealment of material facts, with knowledge or imputed knowledge of such facts, with the intent that representation or <u>silence</u>, or concealment be relied upon, with the other parties ignorance of the true facts, and reliance of this damage upon the representation of silence." . . . "at such the doctrine effect of estoppel is not applicable in this matter." (Vol. 4, Pg 459)

Prior to their letter of September 22, 2005, (Vol. 3, Pg. 385) the Lums were silent leaving Helveston to believe he was still in negotiations for renewal.

If the parties were not negotiating why was the letter of September 22, 2005, even necessary? Why does the letter state that Helveston's offer "is" rejected instead of stating that all prior offers "were" previously rejected? Why does the letter state that "as of this date" (and not some previous date) Helveston would be treated as a trespasser? The answer is obvious; the parties were still negotiating or at a minimum negotiations had not been terminated.

Further, the Court found as fact that "Helveston has no ownership interest in the property" (Vol. 4, Pg 459) when in truth Helveston had never conveyed his interest in his personal property to any party, although it was subject to a UCC in favor of Heritage Banking Group. Notwithstanding that there is no deed or bill of sale the Court found as a factual matter that, "therefore, he had no ownership in the property, and thus has no claim for replevin." (Vol. 4, Pg. 459) There was absolutely no evidence to support such a finding.

The lower Court made several factual determinations regarding what did or did not happen, who was or was not silent, and whether or not equitable estoppel applied and equitable estoppel is always a factual question, in this case, for the jury.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal this Court applies a de novo standard of review of a trial court's grant of summary judgment. Moss v. Batesville Casket Company, Inc., 935 So. 2d 393 (Miss. 2006)

As stated by the Moss court and the numerous other cases cited therein:

"This court employs a factual review tantamount to that of the trial court when considering evidentiary matters in the record. . .

The moving party has the burden of demonstrating that there in no genuine issue of material fact in existence, while the non-moving party should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt . . . A fact is material if it "tends to resolve any of the issues properly raised by the parties." . . .

Issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a motion for summary judgment obviously are present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite. . . .

If any triable issues of fact exist, the lower court's decision to grant summary judgment will be reversed." 935 So. 2d at Pages 398-399

As stated by Justice Carlson in <u>Price v. Purdue Pharma Company</u>, 927 So. 2d 479 (Miss 2006):

"In considering this issue, we must examine all the evidentiary matters before us, including admissions and pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, and affidavits. Aetna, 669 So. 2d at 70." 928 So. 2d at 483

And as Chief Justice Roy Noble Lee stated in Mantachie Natual gas District v.

Mississippi Valley Gas Company, 594 So. 2d 1170 (Miss 1992):

"All Motions for Summary Judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the trial court is to err, that it is better to err on the side of denying the motion. When doubt exists whether there is a fact issue, the non-moving party gets its benefit. Indeed, the party against whom the summary judgment is sought should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt." 594 So. 2d at Page 1173

This skepticism continues to be the rule as the Court of Appeals in <u>Thomas v. Bradley</u>, 2006-CA-01756-COA, decided January 29, 2008, held:

"Furthermore, we are to consider a motion for summary judgment with a skeptical eye because it is preferred to err on the side of denying the motion. Ratliff v. Ratliff, 500 So. 2d 981 (Miss 1986)"

In this case the Circuit Court of Claiborne County took it upon itself to sit as the trier of fact and rather than giving Helveston the benefit of the doubt resolved disputed factual issues in favor of Defendants Lum and was in error in granting the Lums' Motion for Summary Judgment.

FACTS

Martha B. Lum (hereinafter "Martha") and Lum Properties Limited are the owners of certain property involved in this matter located in Claiborne County, Mississippi.

Back in 1999, Wilton Helveston, entered into a hunting lease with the Lums with inclusive dates of July 1, 1999 through June 30, 2002.

Notwithstanding that lease expired June 30, 2002, the parties continued to negotiate and eighteen (18) days after the first lease expired on June 30, 2002, the parties entered into a second lease (dated July 16, 2002 through July 15, 2005). Both leases provided that any property left on the Lum land for more than thirty (30) days after expiration would become the property of the Lums. No new lease was ever signed between the parties after July 15, 2005.

However, beginning as early as April, 2005, the parties were engaged in negotiations for the renewal of Helveston's hunting lease on the Lum property which continued until a letter sent by attorney Sim C. Dulaney to Helveston dated September 22, 2005 (Vol. 3, Pg. 385), at which time Helveston was notified that his latest offer on the property was rejected and that if he <u>thereafter</u> attempted to enter the property he would be treated as a trespasser. (See Exhibit "A" to Response to Motion for Summary Judgment), (Vol. 3, Pg. 385).

On May 17, 2005, Martha Lum wrote Helveston stating that she was unable to accept his proposal dated April 24, 2005, but also advised that she was "in the process of drawing up a new lease agreement for you which would be for a term from July 16, 2005, to May 31, 2005. I should have it ready by your next return trip to Port Gibson." (Vol. 3, Pg. 386) Helveston was never able to view this lease prior to the letter of September 22, 2005, as the Lums refused to provide this lease to his representative Ms. Leoma Reed. (Vol. 3, Pg. 414)

The Lums at one point represented that they had decided to no longer lease the property for hunting purposes to instead pursue tree farming interests and other interests, but Ms. Leoma Reed in her deposition on January 24, 2007, (see Exhibit "E" to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment) testified at pages 37 and 38 (Vol. 3, Pgs. 406 - 407) quoted Martha Lum as saying that the Lums had other potential prospects on the line wanting to lease the property further quoting Martha Lum as stating that there were "quite a few" other people and "more than one" and "several people" wanting to lease the property for hunting purposes. (Reed Depo. Pg 37-38; Vol. 3, Pgs. 406 - 407) As seen infra, this was not true. Only after September 22, 2005, did the Lums lease the property to Offshore Towing for hunting purposes. The Lums did not begin negotiating with Offshore until September 27, 2005. This created a factual issue regarding the Lums intentions and actions.

Ms. Reed testified that as a personal friend of Martha Lum and Deborah Lum and as a person having a business relationship with Helveston (See Reed Depo, Page 32; Vol. 3, Pg. 405) that she discussed a proposed lease between the Lums and Helveston which was to be dated from July 16, 2005 to May 31, 2006.

After Martha Lum's letter advising that she was having a lease prepared for Helveston to

review on his next trip to Port Gibson, Lum inquired of Leoma Reed as to, "When is Mr. Helverston coming." (Vol. 3, Pg., 406)

Ms. Reed had gotten involved in the lease renewal discussions as Helveston's representative because Mr. Helveston got extremely sick in 2005 (Reed Depo, Page 30-31, Vol. 3, Pgs. 403 - 404). She testified that Helveston had requested her to discuss the lease terms with the Lums because of his illness. (Reed Depo, Page 14; Vol. 3, Pg. 395)

Ms. Reed testified that at some point she asked Deborah Lum to get involved in the discussions about the lease renewal because it was upsetting her mother (See Reed Depo, Page 15; Vol. 3, Pg. 396). She testified that Martha Lum would often call her about discussing the lease. (See Reed Depo, Page 16; Vol. 3, Pg. 396)

Ms. Reed testified that Mrs. Lum, as opposed to Helveston, had first called her to talk about the lease and quoted Mrs. Lum as saying she wanted the whole thing for around \$40,000.00 or nothing and wanted the taxes that were due and that "this was where the stall came up" (Vol. 3, Pgs 396 - 397).

Ms. Reed stated that when Mrs. Lum called and said what she said about the taxes and the whole lease that Reed then called Helveston (Vol. 3, Pg. 396) and Helveston did not want to pay the taxes before they were due until the first of the next year. (Vol. 3, Pg. 398) Ms. Reed stated that this conversation with Mrs. Lum was about the time the lease was coming up (Vol. 3, Pg. 398).

Ms. Reed conveyed to Mrs. Lum that Helveston stated that he just did not have as much money as she wanted (Vol. 3, Pg. 399).

Ms. Reed testified that she has three or four telephone conversations with Mrs. Lum about the renewal and that she even went by Mrs. Lum's house to see her concerning the lease. (Vol. 3, Pg.

402)

Ms. Reed identified the time period when she started helping Helveston out on the lease negotiations was when "he almost died" and when he "was totally out of it." (Vol. 3, Pg. 404) and that it was during the renewal process in 2005, when Ms. Reed was assisting Helveston on the lease negotiations. (Vol. 3, Pg. 403)

Ms. Reed testified in her deposition that Helveston did not want to pay the 2005 taxes as requested by the Lums until the taxes were due in 2006 (See Reed Depo, Pages 17-19; Vol. 3, Pgs. 398 - 400) and that Ms. Reed had three or four telephone conversations with Martha Lum and discussed with Martha what Helveston was trying to offer. (See Depo, Pages 20-21; Vol. 3. Pgs. 401 - 402)

Ms. Reed testified that she was closer to the Lums than Helveston as she was a personal friend of both Martha Lum and Deborah Lum while only a business relation of Helveston's. (Reed Depo, Page 32; Vol. 3, Pg. 405)

Ms. Reed also testified that she had informed Martha Lum that Lum should pick up the phone and call Helveston (Reed Depo, Pages 36-37; Vol. 3, Pgs 406 - 407) and that Helveston never indicated to Reed that he was ducking the Lums. (Reed Depo, Page 37; Vol. 3, Pg. 407)

As further evidence of the ongoing negotiations between the parties Wilton Helveston testified in his deposition on November 14, 2006, that the lease matter was in negotiation (Helveston Depo, Page 27). He testified that he had sent Ms. Reed to go pick up the lease referred to by the Lums' in Martha Lum's letter to him of May 17, 2005, (Exhibit "B" to Response to Motion for Summary Judgment.)

Helveston testified that he learned that the Lums would not give the referenced lease to Reed

(Helveston Depo, Page 26; Vol. 3, Pg. 415) and while still demanding \$40,000.00 in cash. (Helveston Depo, Page 46)

Helveston testified that the exact dollar amount of the renewal lease had never been nailed down because Helveston was never allowed to see the lease. (Helveston Depo, Page 28; Vol. 3, Pg. 415)

Helveston testified that a lot of numbers were thrown around (Helveston Depo, Page 28; Vol. 3, Pg. 415) but it was his understanding that he was going to have a lease for a set sum of money for the year 2005-2006 (Helveston Depo, Page 28; Vol. 3, Pg 415) but that the exact sum was never specified. (Helveston Depo, Pages 28, 29; Vol. 3, Pgs. 415 - 416)

Helveston testified that he was gathering up the cash money because he thought that the renewal lease was going to happen. (Helveston Depo, Page 30; Vol. 3, Pg. 417)

Helveston testified that when it began dawning up on him that the persons making the decisions had changed (Reed testified that she had requested Deborah Lum to take over; (Vol. 3, Pg. 412) Helveston thought it might be better to see the actual document. (Helveston Depo, Pages 30-31; Vol. 3, Pgs. 417 - 418)

When negotiations fell through in September 2005, the Lums then, and only then, leased the identical property to Offshore Towing Inc., (a Louisiana corporation which was initially a party Defendant in this matter because it was in possession of Plaintiff's personal property), which was subsequently dismissed herein after disclaiming any interest in Helveston's personal property. Even though Martha Lum told Ms. Reed that she had several other hunting lease prospects, trying to let Helveston think that others might pay more, the Lums in fact were not negotiating with anyone and were obviously of the belief that Helveston would renew.

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