IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILTON HELVESTON

APPELLANT

APPELLEES

VS.

CAUSENO. 2007-CA-02277

LUM PROPERTIES, LTD., A MISSISSIPPI LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, MARTHA B. LUM, INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HER CAPACITY AS GENERAL PARTNER OF LUM PROPERTIES, LTD.

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF CLAIBORNE COUNTY

Lucien C. ("Sam") Gwin, III
MSB No
Gwin, Lewis & Punches, LLP
P.O. Box 1344
319 Market Street
Natchez, MS 39120
Telephone No. (601) 446-6621
ATTORNEY FOR LUM PROPERTIES, LTD., A MISSISSIPPI
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, MARTHA B. LUM, INDIVIDUALLY
AND IN HER CAPACITY AS GENERAL PARTNER OF
LUM PROPERTIES, LTD.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court ruled correctly when it determined that there were no factual disputes so that summary judgment was wholly justified in this instance.

Plaintiff's brief does not put the facts in chronological order and when the sworn testimony of the Plaintiff and the Plaintiffs' representative are reviewed in context and in chronological order it is abundantly clear that summary judgment is proper.

Plaintiff and Defendants enter into a hunting lease (second hunting lease) beginning July 16, 2002 through July 15, 2005. Plaintiff, a resident of South Louisiana, was leasing the properties of the Defendant's located in Jefferson and Claiborne Counties. In the hunting lease, there was a provision which stated that at the expiration or cancellation of the subject lease, the lessee would have thirty (30) days thereafter to take and remove from the land of the Defendants' any and all equipment or other personal property owned by lessee. In the even that the lessee failed or refused to remove the same within the such time limit, then title would ipso facto vest in lessor. (See Vol. 1, Pg. 13)

Plaintiff had initially contacted the Defendants about releasing the property for hunting through a letter dated April 24, 2005. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 309; Deposition of the Plaintiff Pg. 100, Line 15) Plaintiff's offer was rejected. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 103; Deposition of the Plaintiff, Pg. 101, Lines 3-9) Plaintiff thereafter suggested a one year lease which was subsequently accepted by the Defendants. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 309; Deposition of Plaintiff, Pg. 101, Lines 10-18)

On May 17, 2005, Mrs. Martha Lum wrote a letter to the Plaintiff that the lease was being drawn up and would be ready for his review at this next trip to Port Gibson. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 309; Deposition of Plaintiff, Pg. 101, Lines 23-25, Pg. 102, Lines 1-25)

Plaintiff admits that he never came to Port Gibson to see the lease; that he never called the Defendants and asked for a copy of the lease nor did he ever contact or call the Defendants' attorney Sim Dulaney for a copy of the lease; nor did he ever request that a copy of the lease be sent to any attorney on his behalf. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 310; Deposition of the Plaintiff Pg. 105-106)

Plaintiff maintains that due to illness that he sent a representative, Mrs. Leoma Reed, to discuss the matter with the Defendants Lum and be his "negotiator." (See Vol. 2, Pg. 293; Deposition of Plaintiff, Pg. 35, Line15-18; and Vol. 3, Pg. 310, Plaintiff's Deposition Pg. 105, Line 23) Mrs. Reed and Mrs. Lum were old friends.

It is admitted by both sides that Mrs. Reed and Mrs. Lum had discussions about the lease although Mrs. Reed was specifically advised that the review of the lease was only for Plaintiff Helveston and that Mr. Helveston would have to deal directly with them or their attorney. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 326; Deposition of Mrs. Reed, Pg. 49, Lines 13 through, Pg. 50, Line 9)

Mrs. Reed was however told what the amount of the lease would be and that this amount was firm. Plaintiff's own brief confirms this on page 10, in the third full paragraph, where Plaintiff makes the following concession:

"Mrs. Reed testified that Mrs. Lum, as opposed to Helveston, had first called her to talk about the lease and quoted Mrs. Lum as saying that she wanted the whole thing for around \$40,000.00, or nothing and wanted the taxes that were due and that 'this was where the stall came up." (See Vol. 3, Pg. 396-397) (Emphasis added.)

How can Plaintiff possibly infer that there were any negotiations to be had when it is obvious from his own admission in his brief to this Court, that early on in the discussions with Mrs. Reed and

Mrs. Lum, that Mrs. Lum was not negotiating anything. In fact, she told them exactly what the terms were to be or she would not lease. Plaintiff was completely apprised of all the details of Mrs. Lum's conversations with Mrs. Reed as Mrs. Reed repeatedly testified over and over that she contacted the Plaintiff and advised him of exactly what position the Lums took with the regard to the amount of the lease. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 326; Deposition of Mrs. Reed, Pg. 49, Lines 13 through Pg. 50, Line 9) Furthermore, Mrs. Reed confirms that the Plaintiff had been sick in the <u>early</u> spring and that she knew of <u>no reason</u> why he could not have picked up the phone and dealt with the Lums directly. (Same testimony as shown above, Vol.3, Pg. 326)

Further, Plaintiff himself was fully aware of the amount of the lease and that it was over \$40,000.00, and further that he was aware of the exact amount over \$40,000.00. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 310; Deposition of Plaintiff, Pg. 105, Lines 2-12)

Most importantly, Plaintiff was aware of this critical information and the fact that it was <u>non-negotiable</u> before the expiration of the 2002-2005 lease on July 15, 2005 as Mrs. Reed specifically advised that the terms were non-negotiable and the amount had to be paid to which the Plaintiff responded he would never pay. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 327; Deposition of Mrs. Reed, Pg. 50, Lines 14-24)

There were no negotiations beyond the July 15th expiration date.

After July 15th, Plaintiff waited beyond sixty-five (65) days to even contact the Defendant again viva his letter of September 21, 2005. (See Vol. 3, Pg. 330)

Furthermore, no where does Plaintiff offer any testimony or evidence in the form of an affidavit that he personally contacted the Defendants after the July 15th date other than his letter of September 21st. Furthermore, he offers no evidence either in the form of sworn testimony or affidavit that any of the terms had to be negotiated further; he gives no details of any negotiations whatsoever; he gives no evidence that any terms were in dispute; he clearly knew the amount the

Lums said that they had to have and agree to before the July 15, 2005; and he knew such amount was non-negotiable and he knew that he would never pay such an amount.

Under all of the shown evidence above, it is clear that Plaintiff simply let the contract expire on July 15th and furthermore let the thirty (30) days go by within which time he could have removed his personal property but yet he decided to remain <u>silent</u>. It is also shown from the sworn testimony above that there was no reason on the face of the earth why Plaintiff could not have picked up the telephone and called the Lums or their attorney or written a letter indicating his intentions. Again, he sat on his rights.

It was Plaintiff's duty to claim his property under the terms of the lease of 2002-2005, which he had signed, and he also had signed one previous thereto with identical language. Plaintiff was fully and completely aware of his rights under the lease and the Lums did nothing that would justify equitable estoppel in this matter.

The Lums presented him with a written lease that he refused to review or have his attorney do so. In fact it is the Plaintiff's silence and his failure to exercise his rights under the hunting lease that have cost him his personal property.

Plaintiff asserts that the Lums made representations that caused Plaintiff to take a course different than that would he would have taken. The most recent case by the Mississippi Supreme Court regarding equitable estoppel is found in Wyndham v. Latco of MS, Inc., 972 So.2d. 608 (Miss. Jan. 2008), wherein the Court stated that for there to be equitable estoppel:

"There must be (1) belief and reliance on some representation; (2) a change if position as a result thereof and (3) detriment or prejudice caused by the changes of the position."

In the first place, the Lums did exactly what they said that they would do which was to present him with a lease that he could either accept or reject and which was available to him literally months before the expiration of the July 15th deadline. Thus, Defendants have made no representations which have caused the Plaintiff to do anything other than to accept or reject their non-negotiable terms and in the event that he rejected the same, then he could have removed his own property pursuant to a contract term that he was already aware of.

In view of the fact that the contractual provisions of the lease provided that title to personalty passes to the Defendants under such circumstances, therefore there can be no conversion of Plaintiff's property. See Community Bank Ellisville v Courtney, 884 So.2d. 767 (Miss. 2004). (There is no conversion until title of the lawful owner is made known.) See also Wilson v General Motors Acceptance Corp., 883 So.2nd 56 (Miss. 2004).

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has dealt with the issue of motions for summary judgment too many times to mention. In the most recent decision of <u>Wyndham v. Latco of MS, Inc.</u>, 972 So.2d. 608 (Miss. Jan. 2008), this Court stated the following:

"This Court applies a de novo standard of review to the trial court's grant of summary judgment... a motion for summary 'shall' be granted by a court 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law."

This Honorable Court is very versed on the requirements that one must meet in order to have a summary judgment affirmed and it will find that the Circuit Court of Claiborne County acted properly in granting summary judgment for the reason that the uncontroverted facts clearly deem summary judgment appropriate; that as a matter of law, the contract (i.e. hunting lease of 2002-2005) was valid, and Defendants had every legal right to assert and rely upon the provisions of the contract with Plaintiff.

VALIDITY OF CONTRACT

As pointed out earlier in this brief, Plaintiff does not plead, assert or aver that paragraph 16 of the 2002-2005 hunting lease (See Vol. 2, Pg. 279) is void, improper or against legal authority. The pertinent language of the contract states:

"Upon expiration or cancellation of this lease, lessee shall have thirty (30) days to take and remove from the land any and all equipment or other personal property owned by lessee; provided that if lessee shall fail or refuse to remove the same within such time title thereto shall ipso facto vest in lessor."

A contract whose language is clear and unambiguous shall be enforced and the language therein will be given its plain and ordinary meaning. See <u>Anglin v. Gulf Guaranty</u>, 956 So.2d. 853 (Miss. 2007); <u>Knoxubee School District v. United National Insurance Co.</u>, 883 So.2d. 1159 (Miss. 2004); <u>Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Ins. Co. v. Britt</u>, 826 So.2d. 1261 (Miss. 2002).

For over a century now, the Mississippi Supreme Court has accepted that a lessor and lessee may agree and contract among themselves regarding title to and removal of property, and they may reflect their wishes in formal agreements that the court will enforce. See Simmons v Bank of MS, 593 So.2d. 40 (Miss. 1992); Bondafoam v. Cook Const. Co. Inc., 529 So.2d. 655, 658 (Miss. 1988); Richardson v. Borden, 42 Miss. 71 (1869); See also Thompson Commentaries on the Law of Real Property, Section 80 (Rep. Vol. 1959)

Furthermore, a building constructed by a tenant on leased land becomes part of the realty and thus the property of the landowner unless it is removed before expiration of the tenancy, or the lease provides otherwise. See <u>Liverpool London & Globe Ins. Co. v. Fuston</u>, 176 So. 913 (Miss.1937) (Emphasis added.); <u>Zeigler v. Lexington Compress and Oil Mill Co.</u>, 63 So. 220 (Miss. 1913) (Tenant built cotton gin and seed shed on rented property; removed gin but left shed; and the court held that the tenant had surrendered the shed.)

Thus it is clear and undisputed that the thirty (30) day removal language is a clear and sound provision under Mississippi law.

EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL

Plaintiff has in essence put all of his eggs in the equitable estoppel basket.

If the Defendants have done nothing wrong that justifies them being equitably estopped from asserting their rights under the contractual thirty (30) day provision of the hunting lease, then they have every right to assert ownership and thus cannot be guilty of conversion.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has recently dealt with the issue of equitable estoppel in the case of Wyndham, supra. The court laid out the black letter law regarding estoppel as follows:

"The United States Supreme Court previously has provided that:

'courts of law in modern times have introduced the doctrine of equitable estoppel, or as it is sometimes called estoppel 'in pais.' The principal is that where one party has by representations or his conduct <u>induced the other party to a transaction</u> to give him an advantage which it would be against equity and good conscious for him to assert, he would not in a court of justice be permitted to avail himself of that advantage... The general doctrine is well understood and is applied by courts of law as well as equity where the technical advantage thus obtained is set up and relied on to defeat the ends of justice or establish a dishonest claim...'

The doctrine of estoppel is applied with respect to representations of a party to prevent their operating as a fraud upon one who has been led to rely on them. In other words, the principal is that a wrongdoer is not entitled to enjoy the fruits of his fraud. (Emphasis added.)"

The court further cited past authority and stated the following:

"there must be (1) belief and reliance on some representation; (2) a change of position as a result thereof; and (3) detriment or prejudice caused by the changes of position."

The court in Wyndham finally stated:

"To establish equitable estoppel which should <u>only be used in exceptional circumstances</u> and must be based on public policy, fair dealing, good faith and reasonableness..." (Emphasis added.)

Wrongdoing ought not be shielded if <u>fraudulent concealment</u> can be proven. (Emphasis added.)

So it is clear from <u>Wyndham</u>, supra., that to prove that the doctrine of equitable estoppel should be applied, one must prove conduct on the part of the wrongdoer that is tantamount to fraud. Fraud of course has to be shown by clear and convincing evidence.

Based on Plaintiff's sworn testimony as well as that of Plaintiff's representative, Leoma Reed, there is nothing in this case close to fraud or inequitable conduct on the part of Defendants. The Circuit Court was correct to find that no evidence was presented in Plaintiff's response to motion for summary judgment that would even hint that Defendants engaged in any conduct that induced the Plaintiff into any transaction or course of conduct. The parties' rights were already spelled out in the hunting lease of 2002-2005.

It is undisputed that the Defendants stated clearly that they would offer the Plaintiff a one year hunting lease; that the amount of the new hunting lease was known and understood by the Plaintiff (See Plaintiff's testimony above); and that the terms were non-negotiable (See Mrs. Reed's testimony above); and that finally Plaintiff was aware of all of this at the time the 2002-2005 lease expired on July 15, 2005. (See Plaintiff and Mrs. Reed's testimony above.) There were no negotiations to be had beyond the July 15th expiration.

Plaintiff, however, would try to convince this court that the Defendants should have been required to give prior notice to Plaintiff that they would exercise their rights and rely upon the thirty (30) day provision in the 2002-2005 hunting lease. First, notice is given by virtue of the terms of the lease. Second, Plaintiff had signed an identical lease with the same provision in 1999. (And he even executed the 2002 lease before the thirty (30) days expired in the 1999 lease.)

Plaintiff, however, wants to assert that the Defendants had to notify him of their intentions to exercise their rights. He signed the lease and was thus held to its terms. Plaintiff states in this brief as follows:

"If in this case Defendants Lum had stated on July 16, 2005, that all negotiations were at an end instead of waiting until September 22, 2005, and instead in engaging in on-going conversation with Leoma Reed as Helveston's representative, Helveston would have clearly known to get his personal property off the Lum's real estate within thirty (30) days of July 15, 2005, and easily could have done so."

First, the assertion that on-going negotiations with Mrs. Reed were being had is clearly a misrepresentation of the sworn testimony of Mrs. Reed herself. The Lums made it perfectly clear to Mrs. Reed that they in fact would not negotiate or provide a copy of the lease to her. Mrs. Reed testified to such:

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